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SUMMARY

Investigations at Pecket Well Mill (NGR SD 9977 2968), located in the hamlet of
Pecket Well near Hebden Bridge in West Yorkshire, have added to and expanded, a
previous survey carried out in 1988 by the Royal Commission for the Historic
Monuments of England (RCHME 1988 Appendix II). The present survey, carried out
in 2005 by Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) is part of a planning application
(Planning application Nos. 05/00098/CON & 03/1805/LBC) by Mango Developments
Ltd to convert the mill to private dwellings. The survey has highlighted certain
aspects of the nature of the construction and layout of various parts of the mill.
Particular attention was paid to the Boiler House, the Engine House, and the Weaving
Sheds.

Pecket Well Mill probably contained a single Lancashire Boiler and a single beam
engine, which continued to be in situ until at least the 1960s. This arrangement was
either supplanted by, or was supplemental to, electrification of the power supply,
which probably occurred before c 1927. It is possible that both the boiler and engine
were in use well into the twentieth century. The survey revealed that the general
layout of the engine house had remained little changed at least since the 1960s when
the engine and boiler were photographed in situ.

Previous investigations (RCHME 1988) had surmised that the original weaving sheds
had been extended to accommodate 650 looms instead of the original 270. This
survey could find no definitive evidence of this and has concluded that the sheds were
either entirely re-roofed or rebuilt to accommodate more looms possibly soon after
they were constructed.

The survey had also identified, as far as was possible, the surviving parts of the fabric
which date to before a fire in 1873. This included the whole of the engine house,
chimney, weaving sheds and parts of the warehouse and boiler room.
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1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

1.1.1 A planning application was submitted by Mango Developments Ltd to
Calderdale MBC (Planning Application No. 05/00098/CON and attendant
Listed Building Application), for the conversion to housing of the Grade II
listed nineteenth century Pecket Well Mill, Keighley Road, Pecket Well,
Hebden Bridge, West Yorkshire (NGR SD 9977 2968). Outstanding planning
permissions already exist (Planning Application No. 03/1805/LBC and
associated full Planning Consent), which involves a greater degree of
demolition and alteration (see Appendix 1 Section 3). West Yorkshire
Archaeological Service Advisory Service (WYASAS), as archaeological
advisors to Calderdale MBC, have prepared a written specification (Appendix
I) to allow the owners to meet the terms of any archaeological condition
expected to be placed upon any new consent.

1.1.2 Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) was commissioned by Mango
Developments Ltd to undertake a building investigation in accordance with the
specification provided by WYASAS. The former Royal Commission on the
Historic Monuments for England (RCHME) carried out a survey of Pecket
Well Mill in 1988 (RCHME 1988, Appendix II) and, following inspection of
that report by WYASAS, it was agreed that a full descriptive report as
specified in Section 7.2.1 of the specification was not required.

1.1.3 The results are, therefore, presented in the form of short essays, which
compliment, and add additional information to, the previous desk-based
assessment and building survey carried out by the RCHME. Specifically, it
outlines the findings of the present investigation with regard to the
construction details of the boiler house and the engine house layout, together
with the question of the phasing of the weaving sheds. Cross-referenced
photographs and annotated plans, which highlight features of architectural,
industrial and archaeological significance are also presented.

1.2 LOCATION, GEOLOGY AND TOPOGRAPHY

1.2.1 Pecket Well Mill is located on the A6033 between Hebden Bridge and
Keighley, approximately 2.5km to the north of Hebden Bridge within the
hamlet of Pecket Well (NGR SD 9977 2968) (Fig 1).

1.2.2 The solid geology consists of Namurian (Palaeozoic Millstone Grit Series)
(British Geological Survey, North Sheet 1979). The soils are classified as
‘Rivington 2’ which are well-drained coarse loamy soils over rock, some fine
loamy soils with slowly permeable subsoils and slight seasonal waterlogging
(Ordnance Survey 1983).

1.2.3 The site slopes down from east to west with most of the buildings being cut
into the hillside. This has resulted in the ground floor of the warehouse
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(Buildings 3a and 3b) forming a semi-basement at the eastern end. The roof of
the eastern end of the weaving sheds is at ground level and both reservoirs are
above ground floor level.

1.3 ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

1.3.1 An outline of the history and development of the mill is contained within the
Royal Commission report (RCHME 1988, 1-2 Appendix II), the main
conclusions from which are outlined below. Due to the specific nature of this
report the detailed historical background provided in the earlier report is not
repeated here.

1.3.2 Originally called Pecket Well Shed, the mill was a speculative construction in
1858 by the Pecket Well Weaving Co. Ltd. The company hoped to let it either
as a whole or as ‘room-and-power’. It was described as having a 20hp steam
engine and 35hp boiler with main and cross-shafting. The weaving shed was
described as being 33 yards long and 35 yards wide and was capable of
holding 270 looms.

1.3.3 John Wilcock & Sons subsequently purchased the whole site in 1861, and
employed 150 people there. John Wilcock died in 1866 and his son, William,
is recorded as employing 240 people in 1871. In 1873, the same year a fire
burnt down a sizing house (built in 1871), the shed apparently contained 600
looms, which by 1879 had risen to 690.

1.3.4 The fire of 1873 gutted the four-storey sizing house building, which contained
stables, an office, and a drying room. The fire did not affect the weaving shed
and a warehouse (position unknown?). There are no records detailing the
subsequent rebuilding.

1.3.5 In 1885 the Wilcock family partnership was dissolved and William Wilcock
ran the business alone. In 1892, the Wilcock Patent Cord and Calico
Manufacturing Co. Ltd. (of which William was managing director) acquired
Pecket Well Shed. In 1906 the company was taken over by the Norden Cotton
Co. Ltd of Manchester and a plan dated 1906 illustrates the extent of the
complex for the first time. Norden Cotton Co. Ltd became Cords Ltd later in
1906 and in 1922 the company purchased some adjacent land. Cords Ltd
bought two other mills in 1923 and 1927, and all three are illustrated on the
company headed notepaper (Document 7 Appendix II).

1.3.6 Up until 1966 Cords Ltd still possessed Pecket Well, which subsequently
passed onto N Chapman and sons (the last occupiers) at an unknown date.
Mango Developments Ltd recently acquired the site and plan to convert it to
housing.
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2. METHODOLOGY

2.1 PROJECT DESIGN

2.1.1 A written specification supplied by WYASAS (Appendix 1), was adhered to in
full with respect to the building investigation, which was consistent with the
relevant standards and procedures of the Institute of Field Archaeologists
(IFA) and generally accepted best practice.

2.1.2 The investigation comprised a Level II-type building survey (RCHME 1996),
which was carried out in order to analyse the plan, form, function, age and
development of the mill. This comprised a drawn, textual and photographic
record of the interior and exterior of the complex.

2.2 BUILDING INVESTIGATION

2.2.1 Descriptive Record: written records using pro forma record sheets were made
of all principal elements of the building, both internal and external, as well as
any features of historical, architectural and industrial significance or pertaining
to its past or present use and function. Particular attention was paid to the
relationships between areas of the building where its development or any
alterations could be observed. These records are essentially descriptive,
although interpretation is carried out on site as required.

2.2.2 Site Drawings: ‘as existing’ drawings were annotated to produce plans of all
of the main floors as outlined in Section 6.3 of the specification (Appendix 1).
These were produced in order to show the form and location of structural
features and/or features of historical, architectural and industrial interest.
Where necessary these drawings were manually enhanced using hand survey
techniques. The hand-annotated field drawings were digitised using AutoCAD
to produce the final drawings (Figs 2 - 10).

2.2.3 Instrument Survey: reflected ceiling plans and cross-sections (as outlined in
Section 6.3 of the specification) of the buildings were surveyed with a
reflectorless electronic distance measurer (REDM). The REDM is capable of
measuring distances to a point of detail by reflection from the wall surface,
and does not need a prism to be placed. The instrument used was a Leica
T1010 theodolite coupled to a Disto electronic distance meter (EDM). The
Disto emits a viable laser beam, which can be visually guided around points of
detail. The digital survey data was captured within a portable computer
running TheoLT software, which allows the survey to be directly inserted into
AutoCAD software for the production of final drawings (Figs 2-10).

2.2.4 Photographic Survey: a photographic survey was produced as per Section 6.4
of the WYASAS specification. The photographic archive consists of both
general and detailed interior photographs, which were captured using both
monochrome and slide 35mm formats. A number of medium format
photographs were taken of interior rooms where appropriate. General
photographs of the exterior elevations were taken with a variety of medium
format (120 monochrome) and 35mm (monochrome and colour slide)
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cameras. As far as practicable, photographs of the external elevations were
captured using cameras equipped with shift (perspective control) lenses. A full
laser printed copy of the photographs, together with photo-location plans (Figs
11-15) and photo-indices, are presented as an additional volume.

2.3 ARCHIVE

2.3.1 The results of all archaeological work carried out will form the basis for a full
archive to professional standards, in accordance with current English Heritage
guidelines (Management of Archaeological Projects, 2nd edition, 1991) and a
synthesis will be submitted to the County SMR and the West Yorkshire
Archive Service (the index to the archive and a copy of the final draft report)
in the first instance. A copy of the final draft of the report will also be supplied
to the client (see Section 7.3 Appendix 1).

2.3.2 Following completion of all recording and post-recording work, OA North
will deposit the original record archive of projects (paper, magnetic and plastic
media) and a full copy of the record archive (microform or microfiche) with
the Calderdale office of the West Yorkshire Archive Service (Section 7.5
Appendix I). The archive will be provided in the English Heritage Centre for
Archaeology format. Appropriate arrangements were made with the
designated depository at the outset of the project for the proper labelling,
packaging, and accessioning of all material recovered.

2.3.3 The Arts and Humanities Data Service (AHDS) online database Online Access
to index of Archaeological Investigations (OASIS) will be completed as part
of the archiving phase of the project
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3. BUILDING INVESTIGATION RESULTS

3.1 INTRODUCTION

3.1.1 Pecket Well Mill consists of a large weaving shed (Building 1 and 5, Fig 6),
warehouse/boiler house (Buildings 3a and 3b) and engine room (Building 2)
(Figs 2, 8, 9 and 10), together with other associated structures, which are cut
into the hillside in the centre of the hamlet of Pecket Well. The Royal
Commission Report (RCHME 1988 Appendix II) already describes the
complex to a certain degree and the information outlined below is intended to
augment or correct this document, as necessary. The aspects of the building
that will be discussed are; the detail of the boiler house (Buildings 3a and 3b)
construction; the detail of the engine house layout (Building 2); and the
phasing of the single storey sheds (Buildings 1 and 5). The extent of the
survival of the first generation fabric (pre-1873 fire) will also be discussed.
Numbers in brackets (for example 10:2-5) refer to the relevant photographs
(film and frame number(s)).

3.2 THE BOILER HOUSE CONSTRUCTION

3.2.1 The boiler house is situated on the ground floor within Buildings 3a and 3b
(which are adjacent to each other) and incorporates the chimney (Building 4)
in the north-east corner (Fig 2). Due to the sloping nature of the site, the north
elevation is partly below ground level (Fig 4). The boiler house has been
briefly described on page 3 of the RCHME report (Appendix II).

3.2.2 The 100ft chimney (Building 4) is of tapering circular section and has a large
square rock-faced stone base, which is visible both internally in Building 10a
and externally in the north elevation (7:30 and 10:09). It is of similar stone
construction to the engine house, has a number of wrought iron bands, and
according to the RCHME, it has been lowered in height (Appendix II, 6). The
lower part of the chimney has been incorporated into the fabric of Building 3a
(Fig 2), which is clearly of different construction (11:07). The chimney passes
up through all the floors of the warehouse and intrudes into the floor space.

3.2.3 The north, south and east internal ground floor walls of 3a are mainly
constructed from both regular, coursed squared stonework and flat rubblework
with some localised areas of brick and cinder block patching, all of which is
whitewashed (10:2-5). A partition wall within 3a (beyond which there was no
access) is of regular-coursed rock-faced stone with some areas of brick
rebuilding and patching. The chimney base is visible through an aperture with
metal ducting at the east end of this wall (Fig 2) (8:17).

3.2.4 There is a vertical rectangular aperture visible in the extreme west end of the
south wall of 3a (Fig 2) which is situated next to a ‘pier’ described below
(Section 3.2.9) (5:13-14). A cast iron beam (bracket?) surmounts this and it
possibly relates to either a revised power transmission system described in
Section 3.3.3 or is associated with the boiler.
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3.2.5 Building 3b is of similar construction with the west wall and part of the north
wall being constructed from both regular, coursed stone and rubblework
(5:17). For the most part, the north wall is comprised of cinder blocks. The
south-west corner has mainly been rebuilt with brick, blocking a doorway
visible externally (10:25). There are two large openings into Building 3a and
Building 9.

3.2.6 A doorway leads from 3a, via a passage with a sloping walkway through
Building 2 (the engine house), into the weaving shed (Building 1) (labelled
‘Ramp’ on Fig 2). This doorway was probably created after the power
transmission system was changed and traces of the beam entablature are
visible. A second doorway with a cast iron door (8:26-27) leads from the east
end of 3a into a small room with a flagged floor (Fig 2), which lies below the
western end of 10a (8:20-27). Access to the weaving shed (Building 1) is
available from the room below 10a via a set of stone steps (8:24-25). To the
right of the steps, a blocked window (also visible in 2a the Overlookers Room
(8:28-29)) can be seen (Fig 2), which probably represents part of the original
fabric of the engine house (8:24-25).

3.2.7 The small low room below 10a has regular, coursed stone walls and has a low
flagged plinth at the south end (8:22-23). The ceiling is timber and two beams
are supported by corbels, iron columns, and a rolled steel joist (RSJ). The east
wall of the room contains a large diameter iron pipe (8:20-21), which has been
capped and probably provided water for the boiler (a valve is located within a
recess within the floor at the east end of Room 10a which probably controlled
the water supply from the eastern reservoir). Above this, within the wall is a
very large stone block, which may seal an aperture. The pipe probably
originated from the dam to the east of Building 10a. This room may be part of
the original fabric.

3.2.8 The ground floor ceiling of 3a comprises two distinct and separate areas of
quite different construction (Fig 3). The eastern part of the room has a part
raised ceiling (corresponding to the brick-supported raised area of flags on the
first floor), which has a cast iron frame supporting large flagstones (this was
probably raised to accommodate an economiser (Fig 9) (5:36-38)). The west
side of the ceiling is composed of three north/south aligned brick-vaulted
arches (covering the area suggested to be a fuel store (RCHME 1988, 4)),
which spring from cast iron beams supported by central round cast iron
columns (probably hollow) (10:3-5). Both of these ceilings are obviously of
fireproof construction. Above these, on the first floor, the flagged floor
continues (Fig 8). A two-part large cast iron beam was revealed during
stripping works and is situated within the floor thickness in 3a (Figs 3 and 5).
There are four lugholes visible and it comprises two separate halves, which are
bolted together. It supported one side of a brick vault and was itself supported
by a cast iron column. This beam separated the two distinct halves of the
ceiling. The floor above was of substantial flagstones, which rested directly on
the beam.

3.2.9 The ceiling of 3b is of more traditional construction with three timber beams,
two of which are supported by cast iron columns (Fig 3). These support a
timber floor, the joists of which are covered with metal fireproof sheets (5:16).
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A large riveted cast iron beam is present above the large opening into Building
9, which is supported by a round cast iron column (5:20). A twin tie bar
arrangement is attached to this, which has a large central bracket bolted to the
beam (5:20). The western end of the tie bars can be seen to terminate at a tie
rod end, which is visible in the west external elevation (10:25).

3.2.10 A large opening between 3a and 3b is characterised by two large stone ‘piers’
either side (Fig 2) (5:24) which support a cast iron beam (Fig 5). The RCHME
report states that the springing of the boiler house’s front arched opening
survives (Appendix II, 3), which these piers may represent. The current large
opening may have been knocked through when 3b was added. The solid
dividing wall above this may be part of the pre-fire 1873 fabric (op cit 4) and
probably formed the original west elevation of 3a (Figs 9 and 10). A cut beam
is present high in the south ‘pier’ and the ‘pier’ contains run-out stopped ovolo
chamfering on what was probably the external side of the opening (the internal
side is worn and damaged) (5:24). The rusticated quoins on the corner of
Building 2 appear to butt against the ‘pier’.

3.2.11 The north external elevation of the ground floor of 3a is only partly visible
above ground level and is constructed from coursed elongated stonework
(sandstone) of varying thickness. There is a recessed area (2.2m wide, 0.8m
high and 0.07m deep) at the base of the chimney at the east end, which is of
rock-faced regular-coursed stonework with lime mortar which is quite
different to the rest of the wall construction (Fig 2) (10:9). There are two
disused windows visible (10:10, 10:14), which have sandstone lintels, and are
blocked with both brick and stone. Above and to the right of the western
blocked window is a vertical join (with quoins) which separates 3a from 3b
and may possibly indicate the original west gable of 3a. This not apparent on
the ground floor which may indicate either the ground floor originally
extended further to the west or was subject to remodelling in this area (10:14).
A further possible window with a sandstone surround has been modified and
blocked with stone and an iron semicircular plate (Fig 2) (10:16). A large
opening, partially visible at the west end of the elevation has a large RSJ lintel
and has been blocked with stone and brick (10:18).

3.2.12 The west external elevation of 3b is also partly visible and consists of regular-
coursed stone work with larger rock-faced quoins (10:25). It would appear that
this wall has been rebuilt at some point. The larger rock-faced quoins return
east to form the south elevation of 3b. The quoins on the upper part of the west
elevation exhibit V-jointed rustication.

3.2.13 It is probable that much of the surviving below-ground fabric of 3a comprises
first generation fabric, which makes up the earliest phase of the building (Fig
2). Building 3b possibly represents extension and rebuilding after the fire of
1873, although parts of this (particularly the ground floor) may contain an
amount or earlier fabric incorporated into the rebuilding. The chimney may
have been free standing prior to the fire of 1873 and evidence (11:07) shows
integration into later fabric on all of the upper floors. Due the limitations of the
survey and ongoing demolition works (including the removal of some of the
fabric before inspection was possible) detailed analysis of the boiler house was
difficult.
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3.3 BOILER HOUSE DISCUSSION

3.3.1 The layout and construction of the boiler house possibly indicates the
placement, configuration, and type of boiler(s) utilised at Pecket Well Mill. A
photograph dated to between 1963 and 1968 (Document 10 Appendix II),
clearly illustrates the front of a (single) Lancashire Boiler, which appears to be
placed adjacent to a projecting stub wall, and which may be one of the ‘piers’
described in Section 3.2.9. This would place the boiler at the south side of 3a
(presuming that the rear of the boiler faced the chimney), the space between
the wall and the column described in Section 3.2.9 (9 feet 10 inches) being
able to accommodate this. It is possible that the ‘piers’ were the remaining part
of the original boiler house (pre-1871) (3a), which was subsequently rebuilt
and enlarged westwards after the fire of 1873 (3b). (The reason extending to
the west (3b) remains unknown and no documentary evidence exists to explain
this). A Lancashire Boiler could have fitted into the space between the original
west gable (of 3a) and the chimney. Slightly contrary to this, there is evidence
(Section 3.2.10) to suggest that the ground floor of 3a/b may have extended
further to the west prior to the fire of 1873 and that the upper floors were
either rebuilt or added on (following the fire). This suggests that 3b may have
been a single storey structure prior to 1873, although the current ground floor
of 3b appears not to contain any original fabric. This is confusing and more
than one phase of remodelling may be apparent. A single Lancashire Boiler
would probably have provided enough steam for the size of engine needed to
power 650 looms (the number recorded there in 1879 (RCHME 1988, 1).

3.3.2 The earliest boiler may have been a Wagon Boiler, although the chimney
(which is original) would have provided too much draught for this type of
boiler and it would have quickly burnt out (Ian Miller pers comm). By 1858,
Lancashire Boilers had already been in use for a number of years and it is
possible that this type of boiler was part of the original installation of 1858. An
article in The Halifax Courier dated 1873 (Document 2 Appendix II), states
that £800 worth of damage had occurred to both the engine and boiler during
the fire of that year. Thus it could be the case that they both required
replacement (or extensive repair) and a new Lancashire Boiler and/or higher
output engine enough for 650 looms (or repaired and McNaughted original)
and possibly an economiser, were installed at this later date.

3.3.3 It is probable that the original boiler room was set in-between the engine house
and chimney (Fig 2), and later became incorporated into the sizing place,
which was probably constructed during the 1871 expansion. It (the boiler
room) may have been incorporated into the original fabric of the 1858 ‘other
buildings’. In the original Articles and Memorandum of Association of the
Pecket Well Weaving Shed Company Ltd (1858) only a ‘Power Loom or
Weaving Shed or Sheds’ is mentioned specifically, although reference is made
to ‘steam power’ and ‘machinery and gear’ indicating that a boiler(s) must
have been present. Following the fire, probably during construction of the
current four-storey warehouse building, the fireproof vaulting and flagged
floor above may have been installed to prevent a second fire. It was reported
that the policeman who discovered the fire (Document 2 Appendix II), stated
that he first saw smoke issuing from a room beneath the drying room, (which
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was the first floor), which was where the boiler would have been situated on
the ground floor.

3.3.4 It is documented (in the Articles and Memorandum) that the original engine
was of 20hp and the boiler was 35hp, and that 270 looms were present before
the 1873 fire. In 1879 there were 650 looms present giving credence to the
possibility that a more powerful (or a McNaughted version of the original)
engine was installed following the 1873 fire. As the Mill was under-insured,
repair, rather than replacement, may have been a more viable option.

3.3.5 The space to the south of the chimney (within Building 3a) is the postulated
position of an economiser. These were in common usage after the 1840s (Giles
and Goodall 1995, 149) and were commonly sited in-between the boilers and
chimney (ibid, 150). The ceiling was probably raised (to approximately 14
feet) to accommodate this, which resulted in a raised platform on the first floor
(5:36). An aperture in the south side of the chimney points toward the position
of the economiser, allowed exhaust gases to escape.

3.4 THE ENGINE HOUSE LAYOUT

3.4.1 The engine house (Building 2 Fig 2) is located to the east of the boiler house
(3a) and is a distinct three-storey, regular-coursed stone building with a hipped
roof and rusticated quoins. There are two tall round-headed first floor
windows, with rusticated surrounds on each of the west and east elevations
(now blocked) (11:02-04). The engine house is attached to the north-west
corner of the weaving shed and a single storey addition (Building 9), probably
constructed in the twentieth century when a change in the power transmission
system was made (RCHME 1988 4), is attached to the south-west side (of the
engine house) (Fig 2). It is of entirely different construction to Buildings 2, 3a
and 3b. The engine house and its extension have been briefly described on
pages 3 and 4 of the RCHME report (Appendix II) respectively.

3.4.2 The ground floor of building 2 is largely inaccessible, mostly being made up
of the solid ashlar engine and cylinder beds (Fig 2). There is a passageway
enabling access from the boiler room (Building 3a) to the weaving shed
(Building 1) which separates the engine and cylinder beds (8:31-36). This
passage would have housed the beam entablature assemblage and four
opposing square recesses, which would have carried the entablature, are still
present in the walls (8:33). There are also two opposing cast iron flanges
bolted to each wall. This passage would probably have been impassable when
the engine was in situ and the doorways would probably have been there to
allow for maintenance of the entablature. The ceiling in this passage is timber
and makes up part of the floor of the engine house floor above (8:33). The
method of power transmission is described on page 3 of the RCHME report
(Appendix II). The flywheel pit is visible as a narrow passageway
(inaccessible) located at the south-east side of the engine house (Fig 2).

3.4.3 Within Building 9, the original west external elevation of the engine house is
visible. This has large rusticated quoins at either extremity, together with a
large bricked-up aperture, which appears to be ‘L-shaped’ (there was no
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access to this other than by a small opening (5:03-06). The upper part of this
blocked aperture forms part of the first floor window but the lower part was
probably created in order to accommodate a new power drive (housed within
Building 9), which must have been retro-connected to the original
transmission system probably via additional pulleys. A blocked aperture in the
south wall of 3a (Section 3.2.2) also probably relates to this.

3.4.4 The first floor of the engine house forms the original engine and cylinder beds.
Access to this room must be made via the first floor of 3a. The floor has been
partly replaced with timber (over the passageway originally housing the beam
entablature described in Section 3.3.2) and the rest is concrete. Immediately
visible are the two large windows at either end of the room, together with the
relatively ornate cast iron beams, which originally supported the beam floor
(Fig 4, 6:36). Also present are tubular handrails. Joist slots are also visible in
the south elevation (Fig 4). The flywheel pit cannot be seen from this floor and
there is limited evidence for a flywheel bearing, although a blocked aperture in
the south elevation of the adjacent room (3a) may represent remains of the
assembly (5:30).

3.4.5 Located at the south-east corner of the beam floor within the engine house is a
small platform supported by a cast iron column (Fig 4). This must have been a
half landing for a quarter turn staircase, evidence for which survives in the
form of iron projections and a plaster scar in the south elevation (Fig 4).
Located in the south elevation, above the level of the beam floor, is a blocked
square aperture with a substantial sandstone surround. This was probably a
window as there is a blocked aperture in a similar position on the south
external elevation.

3.4.6 There are two blocked (brick) apertures at the base of the western half of the
south elevation (6:33-34), which were probably part of the original
transmission system providing power into the weaving shed. A similar
blocked aperture is visible in the north wall and can also be seen from the first
floor of 3a (5:30).

3.5 ENGINE HOUSE DISCUSSION

3.5.1 It would appear that the engine house is part of the original fabric of the mill
and its layout is consistent with that associated with single steam beam
engines. It is attached to the north-west corner of the weaving shed, a position
common in Yorkshire textile mills (Giles and Goodall 1995, Illustration k, Fig
237). This was done in order to provide effective power transmission into the
adjacent weaving sheds, which was achieved via a line shaft and countershafts
(RCHME 1988, 5).

3.5.2 The beam engine appears to have been in situ as late as the 1960s as a
photograph of that approximate date attests (Appendix II Document 10).
Although the copy of the photograph examined is of poor quality, the engine
illustrated appears to have been of typical beam engine design, its appearance
being similar to that at Cape Mills, Bramley (Giles & Goodall 1995, Fig 227).
If the engine was rebuilt and McNaughted following the 1873 fire, the original
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engine room would certainly have had the space to accommodate this. There is
no record of any specific damage to the engine house during the fire.

3.5.3 The addition to the engine house (Building 9) was probably carried out some
time before 1927, as it first appears on a Cords Ltd company letterhead of that
date (Appendix II Document 7). Its first appearance on a plan is in 1930 where
it is labelled 8A (Appendix II Document 8). It is probable that this was
constructed in order to accommodate a new electrified power system.

3.5.4 It has been surmised that a rope-driven flywheel was positioned in an aperture
(Section 3.4.3) within the west elevation of the engine house (RCHME 1988,
7). A notch in the roof truss of Building 9 (Photo 18:11) (probably made to
accommodate the drive belts) also points towards this. It is possible that an
electric motor was installed in Building 9, which may have been connected to
the original transmission system via drive belts (termed group drive as one
motor provided power for the whole of the mill or floor (Giles and Goodall
1995). The generation of electricity from steam power required a higher output
steam turbine(s) and linked generator(s), which may have been accommodated
in Building 9. Some mills purchased electricity from private companies (if
available), which was cheaper than installing new steam turbines.

3.5.5 Individual electric motors at the end of each line shaft became increasingly
common practice by the end of the First World War (ibid). It is possible that
this was carried out when the mill became attached to the rapidly expanding
national grid, in order to take advantage of the new (more efficient)
technology. Electrical motors are present on the upper floors of Building 3b,
attached to the original belt system (6:16). If this scenario is true, then by the
1960s the engine would almost certainly have long been decommissioned, as
the mill was probably connected to mains electricity by this time.

3.6 THE PHASING OF THE WEAVING SHEDS

3.6.1 The weaving sheds (Figs 6 and 7) are described briefly on pages 2 and 3 of the
RCHME report (Appendix II). The report goes on to describe the phasing of
the weaving shed in detail and, clearly, the documentation appears to support
the extension of, and adding to, the original weaving shed (Building 1),
described in 1858 as being ‘33 yards long, 30 yards broad and capable of
holding 270 looms’ (RCHME 1988, 1). It is possible that extension of the
weaving shed was envisaged from an early stage, the current size of the main
part of the weaving shed being clearly larger than that documented, suggesting
that the plans were changed and it was enlarged as soon as it was constructed.
The sheds comprise one large open area (Building 1 and 5) and four other
rooms (7, 8 and small rooms at the south and west corners) (Fig 6).

3.6.2 It is suggested by the RCHME that the shed (Building 1) was extended to the
north-east in the 1870s (to form Building 5) and that it copied the original
build (the first phase), the shafting being extended along new columns
(RCHME 1988, 3). There are two types of columns (C1 (13:7) and C2 (16:2)
Fig 5) which do not, however, relate to any eastward extension of the shed.
These may relate to differing types of power transmission within the shed,
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with column type C2 forming a whole row, that being the sixth row of
columns from the north wall (all the other columns are Type C1). Both types
of columns are almost identical, the main difference being that C2 columns
have bolted line shaft hangers still attached. C1 type columns do exhibit
boltholes and may have had similar hangers attached. The entire roof structure
of the weaving shed is uniform and shows no sign of modification and/or
extension from both internal and external inspection (11:11, 13:1-2). Either the
shed was extended very soon after it was built or it was entirely re-roofed and
all new columns were inserted. The eastern half of the shed is built into the
hillside and would have required the movement of a quite considerable amount
of material.

3.6.3 There is limited evidence within any of the long walls or floor to support the
extension of the weaving shed. It has been postulated that the shed was
extended from the area within the junction of the west wall of Building 7 and
the south wall of Building 1 (Fig 6). There is no evidence to support this other
than a vertical scar in the south wall near the junction of Building 7 (14:15-
17). There is evidence (14:10) for the location of the doorway (in the north
wall of building 5) which once gave access to the privies (Building 6 - no
longer present), which were located to the east of the reservoir (Fig 6 and
document 8 Appendix II).

3.6.4 The RCHME report suggests that all the remaining buildings (Buildings 7 –
10) were all added before 1905 (evidence from Document 4 Appendix II), as
they all appear on a map of this date. Clearly, the buildings on the south side
of the weaving shed (Buildings 7 and 8) were added later, and although they
are not of regular dimensions, their roofs are on the same alignment as the
weaving shed. It is probable that Building 8 was constructed with respect to
the Chapel and graveyard located in this area (Documents 4 and 5 Appendix
II). The south exterior elevation of Building 7 is constructed from two
differing styles of stonework, the top two thirds being similar to that used to
construct the upper part of Building 3a and 3b. The lower part is of larger
rock-faced stonework.

3.7 SURVIVAL OF ORIGINAL FABRIC

3.7.1 It is plain from inspections carried out at Pecket Well Mill that the complex
has undergone various phases of remodelling and rebuilding. The most serious
impact upon the nature of the layout of the mill appears to have been the fire
of 1873, which caused severe damage. The amount of original (pre-fire) fabric
is difficult to ascertain but from evidence collected, it would appear that
almost the whole of the engine house (Building 2) (the east elevation exhibits
some rebuilding (11:04), the chimney (Building 4) and quite possibly all of the
weaving shed (Building 1), dates to the initial construction of the complex in
1858. Both the engine house and the chimney are constructed from well-
finished, coursed regular sandstone. The engine house has substantial
rusticated quoins, which have obviously been truncated on the north side by
the construction of the warehouse (Building 3b). The west elevation of the
weaving sheds (Building 1) is of similar appearance. The south-east corner of
Building 3a is constructed in the same manner as the engine house and it is
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reasonable to assume that, initially, 3a (and possibly a former incarnation of
the ground floor of 3b) formed the original warehouse/boiler house, which
was subsequently extended by the construction of 3b following the fire of
1873. It is obvious that the west end (and the north-east corner of the east end)
of the warehouse/boiler house (Building 3b) exhibit different construction
details. Building 9 exhibits different construction details again and is clearly
later than both phases.

3.7.2 It would appear that at least the eastern below-ground part of the four-storey
warehouse (the boiler room, Building 3a) survives from before the fire. It is
also possible that the small basement room below 10a was part of the original
fabric. The chimney (Building 4) has certainly survived, together with part of
the fabric at the base of the east end of the north elevation. It is possible that
the north-east corner of Building 3a was rebuilt around the chimney, which
may have originally been free-standing. The cross-wall, which continues up
through Building 3, and which divides 3a from 3b is also probably a survival
and may represent the west elevation of the original warehouse/boiler house.
There is a single window located within the east elevation of the warehouse on
each of the second and third storeys (6:26, 11:07). These are quite different
and appear to be earlier than any of the windows within Building 3a and b and
may be original. Other windows located within original fabric on the south
elevation of the warehouse (3a) are probably replacements following
rebuilding post-1873.
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